

GLENDORA HIGH SCHOOL
TARTAN BANDS AND PAGEANTRY BOOSTERS CLUB
BYLAWS
(as amended May 2023)

ARTICLE 1 – NAME

The name of this organization shall be the GLENDORA HIGH SCHOOL TARTAN BAND(S) AND PAGEANTRY BOOSTERS CLUB (“Club”).

ARTICLE 2 – PURPOSE

The purpose of the Boosters Club is to bring about a closer relationship between the home, community and school in order to encourage and maintain high standards of citizenship and performance and to provide support to the Glendora High School Tartan Band(s) and Pageantry.

ARTICLE 3 – POLICIES

SECTION 1 – The Club shall not, except to an insubstantial degree, engage in any activities or exercise any powers that are not in furtherance of its stated purpose.

SECTION 2 – The club shall be noncommercial, nonsectarian, nonpartisan and nonprofit. The name of the Club or its officers in their official capacities shall not be used in any connection with a commercial concern or with any partisan interest for any reason not appropriately related to the purpose of the Club.

ARTICLE 4 – MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1 – All parents and/or guardians of students enrolled in the Glendora High School Tartan Band(s) and Pageantry shall be active members of this Club with voting rights. Membership shall begin on June 1 and continue through May 31 of the following year.

SECTION 2 – Upon recommendation of the Band Director, the Executive Board may approve an individual as an honorary, nonvoting member of the Club.

ARTICLE 5 – OFFICERS

SECTION 1 – The officers shall be members of the Club as defined in ARTICLE 4, SECTION 1. They shall be the President, First Vice President (Travel), Second Vice President (Bandorama), Third Vice President (Tournaments), Fourth Vice President (Communications), Fifth Vice President (Sales), Sixth Vice President (Jazz Under the Stars), Seventh Vice President (Programs and Sponsorships), Recording Secretary, Treasurer, Financial Secretary, Corresponding Secretary, Auditor, and Parliamentarian. The membership may elect, through the procedures of ARTICLE 8, co officers for any of these named officers.

SECTION 2 – The President shall preside at all meetings of the Club and of the Executive Board. The President, with the approval of the Elected Officers, shall appoint the Parliamentarian and a Chairperson for each standing committee. The President shall be a member of all standing committees.

SECTION 3 – The First Vice President shall be director of Travel and shall act as an aide to the President, and in the absence of the President, shall assume the duties of that office.

SECTION 4 – The Second Vice President shall be director of Bandorama and other special projects approved by the Executive Board.

SECTION 5 – The Third Vice President shall be director of Tournaments and other special projects approved by the Executive Board.

SECTION 6 – The Fourth Vice President shall be director of Communications and other special projects approved by the Executive Board.

SECTION 7 – The Fifth Vice President shall be director of Sales and other special projects approved by the Executive Board.

SECTION 8 – The Sixth Vice President shall be director of Jazz Under the Stars and other special projects approved by the Executive Board.

SECTION 9 – The Seventh Vice President shall be director of Programs and Sponsorships and other special projects approved by the Executive Board.

SECTION 10 – The Recording Secretary shall keep an accurate record of the proceedings of all meetings of the Club and Executive Board, and shall ensure that the minutes of meetings from the previous twelve (12) months are available for reference at all General Booster and Executive Board meetings. The Recording Secretary shall also maintain and make available a current copy of the Club's Bylaws. Archived meeting minutes older than five (5) years shall be given to the Band Director and archived.

SECTION 11 – The Treasurer shall receive all monies and deposit them in the name of the Club in a federally insured financial institution approved by the Executive Board. The Treasurer shall pay all bills on approval of the Executive Board, and keep an itemized account of all receipts and disbursements, and shall submit a statement of accounts at each meeting of the Club. All checks shall be signed by any two (2) of the four (4) following officers: President, First Vice President, Second Vice President, and Recording Secretary.

SECTION 12 – The Financial Secretary shall work closely with the treasurer and provide an itemized listing of receipts, an itemized listing of deposits, and an itemized listing of authorizations for payment.

SECTION 13 – The corresponding Secretary shall handle all necessary correspondence of the Club. The Corresponding Secretary shall also maintain an updated roster of the Club's members. In absence of the Recording Secretary, the Corresponding Secretary shall assume the duties of that office.

SECTION 14 – The Auditor shall audit the financial records of the Club within sixty (60) days of the end of the Club membership year (June 30) and shall submit a written report to the Club .

SECTION 15 – The Parliamentarian shall attend all meetings of the Club and of the Executive Board and shall give necessary advice in parliamentarian procedure as needed, and shall call the first meeting of the Nominating Committee to give instruction on procedure.

SECTION 16 – Each officer, on or before May 31 of each year, or upon their resignation, shall turn over to the President all records, books, funds, and other material pertaining to the office, except those needed for the annual audit. The outgoing President shall transmit all records, books, funds, and other materials to the incoming President within thirty (30) days of the end of the fiscal year.

ARTICLE 6 – BOOSTERS CLUB MEETINGS

SECTION 1 – General meetings, in person or virtually, of the Boosters Club shall be held on a regularly scheduled day and time to be set by the Band and Pageantry Directors and the President at the beginning of each term of office.

SECTION 2 – Special meetings may be called by the President or a majority of the Executive Board. Notice of all special meetings shall be given to the membership in writing (posted or electronic) or by telephone.

SECTION 3 – The annual election of officers shall be held within the last six (6) weeks of the school year.

SECTION 4 – The privilege of making motions, debating, and voting shall be limited to the voting members of the Club who are present in person or virtually.

SECTION 5 – The number of voting members required to constitute a quorum shall be equal to 10% of the current membership of the Club.

ARTICLE 7 – EXECUTIVE BOARD

SECTION 1 – The Executive Board shall consist of the officers, the Band Director, and the Pageantry Director.

SECTION 2 – The presence of a majority of the Executive Board shall constitute a quorum.

SECTION 3 – The Executive Board shall transact all necessary business between meetings of the Club. It shall authorize payments of all bills. It shall create such standing committees as are deemed necessary to carry out the work of the Club.

SECTION 4 – The President may call a meeting of the Executive Board at any time deemed necessary. The President must call a meeting of the Executive Board upon written request of three (3) members of the Board.

SECTION 5 – The President, with the approval of the Executive Board, shall appoint persons to fill any vacancy in that office.

SECTION 6 – Each office shall maintain a single vote (even if held by co-officers).

ARTICLE 8 – ELECTION OF OFFICERS

SECTION 1 – Nominations of officers shall be made by a Nominating Committee of five (5) members. The chairperson of the Nominating Committee shall be appointed by the Executive Board. The remaining four (4) members shall be elected by the Club before March 31, and shall include a representative of each grade level. In case a meeting is not held at an appropriate time, the entire committee may be appointed by the Executive Board.

SECTION 2 – The Nominating Committee shall submit its report at the April meeting, at which time additional nominations may be made from the floor. The consent of each candidate must be obtained before their name is placed in nomination.

SECTION 3 – Election of officers shall be by ballot at the April meeting. If there is but one candidate for an office, the vote may be made by voice.

SECTION 4 – Newly elected Officers, unless already holding that office, ~~shall~~ may “shadow” the current officer to learn the duties of each office, and assume their duties on June 1. Officers shall serve for a term of one (1) year. Officers shall be eligible for the same office for no more than two (2) consecutive terms, unless a suitable candidate cannot be found to fill that office.

ARTICLE 9 – STANDING COMMITTEES

SECTION 1 – There shall be such standing committees created by the Executive Board as may be required to carry on the work of the Club.

SECTION 2 – A Chairperson for each standing committee shall be appointed by the President subject to the approval of the elected officers.

SECTION 3 – Chairperson(s) of standing committees shall assume their duties on June 1.

SECTION 4 – Each Chairperson, within thirty (30) days of the Club fiscal year end, or upon their end of term or resignation, shall turn over to the President all records, books, funds, and other materials pertaining to the position.

ARTICLE 10 – DISSOLUTION

SECTION 1 – The Club may be dissolved by a two-thirds vote at any regular meeting of the Club upon recommendation of a Dissolution Committee appointed by the President in conjunction with the Band Director. However, no such vote shall be taken unless the following provisions have been satisfied:

- A. Formation of the Dissolution Committee must be announced in writing.
- B. The Dissolution Committee has held at least one (1) hearing of the general membership at a General Booster meeting at least thirty (30) days prior to the meeting at which a vote is to be taken.
- C. Announcement of all meetings at which hearings and votes are to be taken shall be made in writing at least two (2) weeks prior to the date of the above meetings.

SECTION 2 – The Club may be dissolved at any time upon recommendation of the Band Director with the support of the school administration.

SECTION 3 – Upon dissolution of the Club and after paying all debts and obligations of the Club, all assets held by the Club shall be disbursed in one of the following ways:

- A. All assets shall be paid to the Student Band and Pageantry Club organized under the Associated Student Body Organizations of Glendora High School.

B. In the event that the Glendora High School Band and Pageantry are no longer in existence, then all assets shall be paid to the Associated Student Body of Glendora High School. C. If the Associated Student Body of Glendora High School is not in existence, or is unwilling to accept the distribution, then the assets shall be distributed to a fund, foundation, or corporation organized and operated exclusively for the purposes specified in Section 501c(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

SECTION 4 – No part of the assets shall be used to the benefit of, or be distributed to, the Club’s members, officers, or other private persons.

ARTICLE 11 – ACCESS TO AND USE OF CLUB OWNED PROPERTY AND/OR EQUIPMENT

SECTION 1 – Use of any Club owned property and/or equipment for non band related activities is prohibited, unless approved in advance of said use, by discretion of the Executive Board.

SECTION 2 – The President, in conjunction with the Band Director, shall control the issuance of keys to Club owned property and/or equipment, and in accordance with school administration policies and procedures, the issuance of keys to school property. Said keys and access to the property and equipment as defined above are to be issued to committee chairpersons and/or other individual booster members as deemed necessary to conduct GHS band and/or Club related activities. Said keys shall be issued in a timely manner to facilitate these activities. Keys issued to facilitate short-term activities shall be returned to the President on or before the General Booster meeting following the event or activity. Keys required to facilitate ongoing functions or activities shall be returned to the President upon completion of said activities for the current school year on or before the final General Booster meeting of the school year at the request of the President.

ARTICLE 12 – AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be amended by two-thirds vote at any regular meeting of the Club, provided thirty (30) days’ notice of the proposed change has been given at the previous regular meeting or by mail.

ARTICLE 13 – PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

The rules contained in the current edition of “Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised” shall govern the conduct of the meetings of this Club in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these Bylaws and any special rules of order the Club may adopt.

This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Bylaws of Glendora High School Tartan Bands an Pageantry Boosters Club. Amendments to these Bylaws were approved, in accordance with Article 12, by two-thirds vote of those members present at the May 2023 Boosters meeting. Notice of the proposed amendments was given by email in April 2023 and at the April 2023 Boosters meeting.